SAPPER CECIL DERWENT WARDLE
1212 – 3rd Tunnelling Company

Cecil Derwent Wardle was born on 2 July, 1886 at 164 Dilston Street, Newcastle-on-Tyne, Durham, England the son of William Derwent and Rosina Ann (nee Donkin) Wardle.  
Eighteen months later the family consisting of William D. (29) florist, Rosina A. (25) and Cecil D. Wardle (1) left London as assisted passengers in April, 1887 for Sydney, Australia arriving on 12 November, 1887 on the ship Garrone.  

The family were in Sydney in 1891 then followed mining at Broken Hill in 1894 and 1896 at Hotham, Victoria.  During the years 1902 to 1905 he and his father worked for the Mount Morgan Gold Mining Company in central Queensland with his father an assayer and engineer and superintendent of the copper works in 1905.  
By 1908 the father and son were at the Kitoba Holdings’ O.K. Mine in Thornborough far North Queensland with his father working as a foreman and Cecil a contractor.  They moved to Cobar, New South Wales to the Great Cobar Company’s furnace where Cecil was general manager.
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Cecil suffered injury from an accident which was reported in the:
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It appears he went to Wollongong, NSW and worked as a picture show and skating rink manager in 1912 where the following took place and reported in the NSW Police Gazette 1912:
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He escaped from custody in the Wollongong lockup with details of his escape and later arrest and trial appearing in the:
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His father died in 1913 at Cobar and his mother remarried on 25 May, 1914 in Victoria to Crosby Hurburgh and went to reside in Hobart, Tasmania.

In 1915 he was working as a miner at Queenstown, Tas.

At the recruiting depot in Queenstown on 8 November, 1915 the single thirty-year-old miner applied to enlist for active service abroad and passed the preliminary medical examination.  
Personal particulars taken show he was 170cms (5ft 7ins) tall with a chest measurement of 86cms (34ins).  Declared fit his application was accepted by the recruiting officer.
Attestation forms were completed at Ross camp on November 12 and describe the assayer and pannikin boss further weighing 63.6kgs (140lbs) with a fair complexion, good vision in his blue eyes and brown hair.  Religion was Church of England.  Distinctive marks were an appendix scar, tattoo on left arm of a ship and coat of arms and right outer arm clasped hands with an anchor above, letters R.O. and on right upper arm heart pierced with arrow and a scar on left upper eye-brow.  Next-of-kin nominated was his mother Mrs R. Hurburgh of Sandy Flat, Hobart.  The Oath of Allegiance was signed and taken at Ross on November 15, 1915.
Acknowledgment to the new recruits and their move to Claremont camp (6th Military District) was published in the:


On 16 December, 1915 was allotted to the No. 3 Company of the Mining Corps and then transferred to their training camp at Casula, near Liverpool, New South Wales joining other volunteers from around the country to train as a Corps.  His rank was Sapper with the regimental number 1212 and remained in No. 3 Company.
At a civic parade in the Domain, Sydney on Saturday February 19, 1916, a large crowd of relations and friends of the departing Miners lined the four sides of the parade ground.  Sixty police and 100 Garrison Military Police were on hand to keep the crowds within bounds.  The scene was an inspiriting one. On the extreme right flank, facing the saluting base, were companies of the Rifle Club School; next came a detachment of the 4th King’s Shropshire Light Infantry, then the bands of the Light Horse, Liverpool Depot, and the Miners’ on the left, rank upon rank, the Miners’ Battalion.  

The Corps boarded HMAT A38 Ulysses in Sydney, NSW on February 20 and sailed for the European theatre.  Arriving in Melbourne, Victoria on February 22 the Miners camped at Broadmeadows for a stay of 7 days while further cargo was loaded. 

Another parade was held at the Broadmeadows camp on March 1, the Miners’ Corps being inspected by the Governor-General, as Commander-in-Chief of the Commonwealth military forces. 

Leaving Melbourne on March 1, Ulysses arrived at Fremantle, Western Australia on March 7 where a further 53 members were taken on board.  

On Wednesday March 8, 1916 the whole force, with their band and equipment, paraded at Fremantle prior to leaving Victoria Quay at 9.30 o’clock.

The ship hit a reef when leaving Fremantle harbour, stripping the plates for 40 feet and, although there was a gap in the outside plate, the inner bilge plates were not punctured.  The men on board nicknamed her ‘Useless’.  The Miners were off-loaded and sent to the Blackboy Hill Camp where further training was conducted.

The Mining Corps comprised 1303 members at the time they embarked with a Headquarters of 40; No.1 Company – 390; No.2 Company – 380; No.3 Company – 392, and 101 members of the 1st Reinforcements.

Finally departing Fremantle on April 1, Ulysses voyaged via Suez, Port Said and Alexandria in Egypt.  The captain of the ship was reluctant to take Ulysses out of the Suez Canal because he felt the weight of the ship made it impossible to manoeuvre in the situation of a submarine attack.  The troops were transhipped to HM Transport B.1 Ansonia, then on to Valetta, Malta before disembarking at Marseilles, France on May 5, 1916.  As a unit they entrained at Marseilles on May 7 and detrained on May 11 at Hazebrouck.

A ‘Mining Corps’ did not fit in the British Expeditionary Force, and the Corps was disbanded and three Australian Tunnelling Companies were formed.  The Technical Staff of the Corps Headquarters, plus some technically qualified men from the individual companies, was formed into the entirely new Australian Electrical and Mechanical Mining and Boring Company (AEMMBC), better known as the ‘Alphabetical Company.’
On 21 May, 1916 Sapper went sick to the 12th Casualty Clearing Station at Etaples suffering a ventral hernia then conveyed on Ambulance Train no.18 to the 26th General Hospital.  On May 23 was discharged to the 1st Divisional Base Depot, Etaples.

Left the Base Depot on 5 September, 1916 for the 26th General Hospital again suffering a ventral hernia and two days later invalided to England from Calais on the hospital ship Dieppe entering the Military Hospital in Chatham.  Reported from hospital on 30 October to A.I.F. Headquarters and granted furlough until 14 November and report to the No. 1 Command Depot at Perham Downs.  

Cecil Derwent Wardle (30) married at Chatham, Kent on 3 November, 1916 to Grace Ida Cook (20) daughter of Alfred Edwin and Sarah (nee Crowhurst) of Snodland, Kent.
Mrs Grace Wardle became his next-of-kin at 6 Dover Terrace, Snodland, Kent, England.

Marched in from furlough via A.I.F. Headquarters to the No. 2 Command Depot at Weymouth on 15 November, 1916.
On 8 January, 1917 Sapper was discharged medically unfit in London for war service at home or abroad with effect from that date after service one year and fifty-two days with the A.I.F.  Military character was very good and received the military discharge parchment certificate plus all his active and deferred pay over and above six pounds Stirling and was appealing four day’s pay incorrectly stopped as a crime forfeiture.

He became a Munitions Worker Number 2768.

After hostilities ceased ex-Sapper Wardle embarked for Australia on 18 December, 1918 as an invalid on the H.T. Miltiades.  It does not mention his wife but Militades was the family ship.  Base Records advised his mother on 17 January that he was returning home.

His name was among those soldiers listed as returning to Tasmania and published in the: 

The transport docked in Melbourne (3rd M.D.) on 8 February, 1919 with news of their arrival reported in:

Arrangements for the Tasmanians to return to their State followed.
On 11 March, 1919 in Hobart he applied to enlist with the No. 6 District Guard.  Forms of Attestation reveal the thirty-four-year-old married assayer had spent service of fifteen months with the Miners’ Corps and two years and three months as a Munitions worker in England.  
Personal particulars recorded were height of (171cms) (5ft 7½ins), weighing 65.9kgs (145lbs) with a chest expansion of 60-67cms (31½-34½ins) and a medium complexion with blue eyes and brown hair.  Religion was Church of England.  
Next-of-kin nominated was his wife Mrs Grace Ida Wardle of 46 Lord Street, Sandy Bay and they had one child under 16 years.  The Oath was signed and taken the same day.   His service number was 415.  At his own request was discharged on 18 August, 1919.
Later that year electoral rolls state the couple were residing at 35 Cromwell Street, Hobart with his occupation as assayer.  
On 23 June, 1920 Base Records wrote the 6th Military District, Hobart stating that this soldier returned on 8 February, 1919 and according to records held was still on strength of the A.I.F.  The case required further information in their possession of disposal or should discharge have taken effect copies and medical proceedings be supplied.  
The Staff Officer in Hobart replied on 8 July, 1920 that the soldier was discharged in England on 7 January, 1917 and enrolled under the Munition Workers Scheme (Badge no.2768). 

Towards the end of 1920 he was working at the construction camp of the Hydro-Electricity Department at Llawenee and organised the picture show at the camp as reported in the: 
His work as an assayer and test driller took him to many places throughout Australasia.

For serving his country Sapper 1212 Cecil Derwent Wardle, 3rd Tunnelling Company was issued with the British War Medal (3367) and the Victory Medal (3367).

In 1922 he left for work in New Guinea with his name in the list of passengers as reported in the:

The Sydney Branch of the Repatriation requested a copy of his service from Base Records and this was prepared on 8 August, 1922 and forwarded to their office.
He was listed as a passenger departing from Brisbane in the:

His next job was in Timor as reported in the:
He wrote an article on a former soldier in the Dutch East Indies in 1932 which was published in the:


Nostalgia struck while in London in 1933 prompting him to send a letter inquiring about former Mount Morgan Cycle Club members as published in the:


In Electoral Rolls for 1934 he was listed as a city assayer living at 23 Abercrombie Street, Sydney.

On the move for work again to New Guinea was a passenger listed in the:


News he had left for the Golden Deeps mine as an assayer, metallurgist and surveyor was reported in the:
His return from Port Moresby to Sydney was listed in the:

A Statutory Declaration was completed while at 56 Albion Street, Surrey Hills, Sydney on 31 July, 1935 for a copy of his Discharge which he declared was lost with personal effects at Madras, India about September 8, 1923.  Baggage either stolen or mislaid and never recovered en route to Burma.  The loss was unavoidable and discharge was not in the hands of any other person.  Base Records sent him a Statement of Service on 2 February, 1935.
He spent a year engaged in tin mining at Takuapa area in Southern Thailand as mentioned in the:


He appeared before the Police Court late in 1935 for fraudulently evading a taxi fare as reported in the:


His address in 1936 was 15 Glen Street, Milson’s Point, Sydney with assayer as his occupation.

The Repatriation Department, Sydney asked for copies of his service records which were forwarded on 15 June, 1936.
The ship sailed for Singapore and he was a passenger listed aboard in the:

He submitted another article on his work adventure in Penang which was published in the:



  

Off to a Malayan destination again his travel booking was listed in the: 


During World War II he enlisted on 28 April, 1941 with the 13th Garrison Battalion and taken on strength at Kembla, NSW.  Discharge was issued two months later having enlisted in an Expeditionary Force raised for service outside the Commonwealth.

His enlistment was with the Australian Army on 5 June, 1941 at Paddington, Sydney now aged 55 years but deleted birthdays to be forty-four-years and gave his birthdate as 4 April, 1897 and born at Newcastle, NSW.  The assayer and metallurgist was married with no dependent children but gave Mrs Grace Megson of 85 King Street, Randwick as next-of-kin being his trustee but this changed to his wife Mrs Grace Wardle of 6 Dover Terrace, Snodland, Kent, England.  
Medical classification was Class II and described as having fair-grey hair and blue eyes with tattoos on both arms, right hernia scar and one on the right index finger.
Marched out to the General Details Depot then appointed to the Special Group II (Well Driller) to the No. 2 Boring Section, Aust Engineers on June 9.  Embarked on 27 June disembarking on 31 July in the Middle East.  
On 10 October was transferred to the Aust Depot Battalion and was assessed by the medical board on 6 November as permanently unfit for service.  
Returned to Australia on the 2 /2 Hospital Ship disembarking in Sydney on 16 February, 1942.  Discharge was issued as medically unfit (osteoarthritis both hands) after serving 227 days active service out of 308 days service on 10 April, 1942.  
He re-enlisted in Sydney on 10 May, 1942 for the Volunteer Defence Corps with particulars being single, previous service with the Boring Section and nominated his mother Mrs R. Hurburgh of 48 Lord Street, Hobart, Tas as next-of-kin.  His present address was Koala, Hendy Avenue, Collaroy.  Medical classification was class II and had special duty as guide etc.  The Oath of Enlistment was signed and taken at Canterbury Racecourse, Sydney and service number was T391655.  He was discharged as medically unfit on 18 August, 1942. 
He is in the Electoral Roll in 1943 at 1 Glen Street, Milson’s Point as an assayer.  In 1949 was at Spurwood Road, Warrimoo, Nepean with same occupation.

His mother Rosina Hurburgh late of Sandy Bay, Hobart died in 1945 aged 73 years.  Ashes are in Derwent Gardens Niche Wall Section C, number 14, row A.
Mrs Grace Wardle died on 5 June, 1951 at New Norfolk, Tasmania at 55 years of age.  Ashes were placed in Derwent Gardens Niche Wall 1 number 8, row H.   Mother of Phyllis, William, Natalie and Ian.

Central Army Records received an inquiry from him at Quay Street, Brisbane and replied on 10 September, 1956 that he had been issued with all medals due to him for 1939-1945.  With regards to his World War I medals, it was necessary to complete the Statutory Declaration enclosed setting out the circumstances where lost and would be advised of replacement costs in due course. 
He wrote from the Donnybrook Caravan Park, via Caboolture, Qld on 29 November, 1956 that he had put in a request for replacement of his two campaign medals lost in Malaya.  He had completed a Statutory Declaration in this regard and since had no further word and would like information on payment and receipt of these medals.  Base Records replied on 26 September, 1956 that the declaration and letter had been received and replacement costs were £1/2/2.  On receipt of remittance the medals would be sent.  A postal note was posted to them with accompanying letter and further Statutory Declaration in which he stated that they were lost with personal effects in Malaya (Rasa, Belangor) in October or November 1926.  Dated Donnybrook, Caboolture.
In 1958 he was living in Quay Street, Brisbane and retired.

Cecil wrote to Central Army Records from 37 King Street, Randwick on 4 July, 1966 requesting copies of discharges for the Volunteer Defence Corps and 13th Garrison Battalion to complete his military history file.  He also stated he had service with U.S.A. Red Cross in New Caledonia ranked Honorary Captain and service with Small Ships U.S.A. Water Division as Honorary Lieutenant and received U.S.A. Certificates of service for these.
He applied in August, 1966 to Base Records that he had his two service medals lost in Malaya about 1927-1928 from the first A.I.F. giving particulars of both periods of service including WWII.  
He sent a statutory declaration dated June, 1966 from 37 King Street, Randwick.  It was established by Records he had lost his R.A.S. Badge and this was replaced at that time.
On 13 February, 1969 at 37 King Street, Randwick he completed a Statutory Declaration for replacement of the two World War I medals issued to him.  He declared that he went to a job in Malaya in 1925 and again in 1929 and to Hong Kong in 1938.  Somewhere in my work and travel I lost some personal baggage in travel.  Last I remember seeing Medals was in Burma or Malaya whilst on mining work. Made some tentative inquiries but got no success. With medals lost were valuable agreements and personal commendations for past mining work.  I am 83 years of age. I was in Nigeria, Ghana, Belgian Congo, Zambia and Johannesburg 1947-1948.  Now retired of Mining Work.
The British War Medal and Victory Medal were engraved on 4 March, 1969 and sent by post to his address.

Cecil Derwent Wardle, late of Randwick, passed away on 1 September, 1976 aged 90 years.  Cremation took place in Eastern Suburbs Crematorium on September 3 and ashes scattered in the Round Rose Garden B2.
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Barrier Miner (Broken Hill) Monday October 11, 1909:


PERSONAL


Mr C.D. Wardle, general manager of the Great Cobar Company’s furnace, met with a painful accident last week.  It appears that during the day an excavation that was in progress had been carried right up to his office door, and a box placed in front of the door to allow of easy entrance and exit.  After dusk the box was removed and Mr Wardle, being unaware of the fact, stepped out of the door into the excavation, spraining his ankle.  Only a while before Mr Wardle was unfortunate enough to break his arm.





Cecil Derwent Wardle, 24, charged with carnally knowing Florence Sylvia Wilson (14yrs 9mths) has been arrested by Constables McClintock and Tindall, Wollongong Police.  Committed for trial at Sydney Sessions.  Bail allowed.  He is still at large.  Every effort is requested to apprehend this man.





Armidale Express and New England General Advertiser Tuesday October 29, 1912:


GAZETTE NOTICES


£25 reward is offered for a prisoner named Cecil Derwent Wardle, who escaped from Wollongong Goal on 11th Inst.





Worker (Wagga) Thursday November 21, 1912:


Some weeks ago a man named Cecil Derwent Wardle, who was confined in Wollongong lockup after arrest on a charge of criminal assault, escaped and remained hidden in the bush.  He was re-arrested at Mortdale on Tuesday.





South Coast Times and Wollongong Argus Friday November 22, 1912:


WARDLE BEFORE THE COURT


In the Wollongong Court yesterday before Mr Fletcher, acting S.M., Cecil Derwent Wardle was charged with escaping from Wollongong Goal on 11th October last.


Inspector Blackburn gave formal evidence as to accused being committed for trial on the 10th October at Wollongong, to appear at Darlinghurst Sessions on 4th November, on a serious charge.


John Lowrey, acting gaoler at Wollongong, said he received accused at the gaol on 10th October (warrant produced); accused escaped from custody in the afternoon of 11th October.


In answer to the Bench, accused stated he did not wish to ask any questions.


In reply to the S.M., Mr Lowrey stated he did not say how accused managed to escape.


William Mintorn, goal warden, residing at Wollongong, deposed he remembered accused being in his charge on 11 October last, in the inner yard of the goal, between the wings and saw accused a few minutes prior to suddenly missing him; witness was present in the yard at all times; a diligent search was made but accused could not be found.


Constable Joseph Tindall, stationed at Wollongong, stated that on information received on 18th November in company with other constables, he arrested accused of Mortdale railway station at 5 p.m.; went up to accused and said “I want you, Wardle”


Accused replied “I wish I’d have seen you long ago, Joe”


Accused subsequently told witness that he made his escape by climbing over the goal wall.


Accused who did not wish to make any statement, was committed for trial at the present sittings of the Darlinghurst Sessions, or whatever other Court the Attorney-General thought fit.		Article abridged





Propeller (Hurstville) Friday November 22, 1912:


ESCAPEE CAPTURED


A prisoner, Cecil Derwent Wardle, who made his escape from the Wollongong goal on October 11, was captured at Mortdale on Monday afternoon by plain-clothes Constables Stear and Wurth, of the Hurstville police.  The accused appeared at the Kogarah Police Court on Wednesday and was remanded back to Wollongong.





Sun (Sydney) Wednesday December 4, 1912:


PLEAS OF GUILTY


Several accused persons pleaded guilty at the Darlinghurst Sessions this morning, and were remanded for sentence.


Cecil Derwent Wardle pleaded guilty to two charges of having committed offences against a girl under the age of 14 years, and also being an escapee from Wollongong goal.





Cobar Herald Friday December 20, 1912:


PICTURE SHOW MANAGER SENTENCED – CORRUPTED YOUNG GIRLS


Cecil Derwent Wardle, 24, pleaded guilty at the Darlinghurst Sessions on Friday last to two charges of assaulting girls under 16, and also to a charge of escaping from custody.  The prisoner had been manager of a picture show and a skating rink at Wollongong.


Judge Murray remarked that prisoner had corrupted two girls (aged 13½ and 14); he would not say he seduced them.  It was important that woman and young girls who were likely to become victims of men like the prisoner should be protected.  He must pass a sentence that was severe.  The lowest term he would give was two years with hard labor in Goulburn Goal.  


There would be the usual remission for good conduct, and no order for special treatment would be made.


For escaping from custody Wardle would serve one month at the expiry of the two years; sentence.  He would not say anything more about the escape from custody except that it was very trifling.





Mercury (Hobart) Wednesday December 1, 1915:


RECRUITING – THE ROSS CAMP


During the month recruits have been steadily entering the Ross camp, and the number of men now there totals nearly 300.  The following are the names of the men (63) who entered the camp on November 14, 15, 18, 22, and 25: C.D. Wardle,


											Article abridged


Examiner Thursday December 9, 1915


THE CLAREMONT CAMP


On November 27, 208 men, belonging partly to the Mining Corps and partly to Infantry reinforcements, were transferred from Ross to Claremont.  The following are the names of the men:


Mining Corps: Captain T.H. Vincent, C.D. Wardle,					


Article Abridged





Examiner (Launceston) Thursday December 9, 1915:


THE CLAREMONT CAMP


Thirty-three recruits joined the Claremont camp last week.  This was six more that the previous week’s figures.  The following 32 recruits have entered the camp since November 25:


C.D. Wardle										Article abridged





Examiner (Launceston) Wednesday January 29, 1919:


PER H.T. MILTIADES – INVALIDS


Spr. C.D. WARDLE, Mng. Cps, Hobart							Article abridged





The Age Monday February 10, 1919:


MILTIADES PASSENGERS – SOLDIERS; WIVES AND CHILDREN


News of life aboard the Miltiades preceded that steamer to Melbourne.  Some items were rather startling.  It seemed as if a full-grown scandal of Navy Office ineptitude were awaiting the glare of publicity.  Therefore it was not wonderful that large crowds of woman curiosity mongers braved influenza germs and all other kings of germs in order to witness for themselves the disembarkation of about 500 women, mainly wives of Anzacs, and a very large number of children, at the Victoria Dock, during the trying heat of Saturday afternoon.  The spectators were disappointed.  There was not a procession of emaciated wrecks trying to recover from appalling weather in the Bay of Biscay, which had had the disastrous effect of bringing about a number of premature births—according to cabled information.  There was no visible trace of starvation during the seven weeks’ voyage from Avonmouth, Bristol to Melbourne, either.  A lot of plump, nicely turned-out girls descended the gangway in a procession that seemed endless, for it took the better part of three hours, and as they met husbands or husbands’ friends and drove off in cab or taxi or private motor, according to the means of the said husbands and their relatives.


									                         Article abridged





Mercury (Hobart) Saturday November 27, 1920:


LLAWENEE CAMP – SOCIAL ACTIVITIES – PICTURE SHOWS AND CONCERTS


Probably few of the dwellers in the towns of Tasmania are aware that away up at Llawenee, 50 miles from the township of Bothwell, and at an altitude of 3,450ft above sea level stands a picture palace, where some of the best films shown profusely in Hobart draw crowded houses twice a week.  Llawenee is one of the large construction camps of the Hydro-Electricity Department and has a population at the present time of 200 souls.  Through the courtesy of Australasian Films Ltd, the proprietors of His Majesty’s Theatre, Hobart and Mr C.D. Wardle, the enterprising cinema expert at Llawenee, the men in camp are now able to obtain the amusement and recreation provided by a first-class cinema show.  The pictures are held at the Y.M.C.A. recreation hut and since their inception about two months ago they have been shown by means of a limelight outfit.


Mr Wardle is a first-class operator.							Article abridged





Daily Telegraph (Sydney) Tuesday April 11, 1922:


PASSENGERS BY THE MELUSIA


The steamer Melusia bound for Rabaul, via Solomon Islands is to sail from Federal Wharf at 11 a.m. to-day The passengers booked include:


Mr C.D. Wardle										Article abridged





Brisbane Courier Saturday November 24, 1928:


DEPARTURES FROM BRISBANE – NOVEMBER 22	


NIEW ZEALAND for Java ports and Singapore (passed Pile Light 11.30 p.m.)


Passengers: C.D. Wardle								Article abridged





Examiner (Launceston) Thursday December 6, 1928:


TIMOR PETROLEUM CO.


Confidence in the future of Timor Petroleum Co. Ltd was expressed by shareholders at an extraordinary meeting at Melbourne last week, to discuss the position of the company and the need of money to carry out plans formulated by the directors.  Many of those present signified their intention of participating in the new issue of 71,6444 ordinary shares.  Each of the shares entitles the holder to the right an any time within two years from the date of allotment to call for one further ordinary share at par.  Sufficient money is in hand to enable operations to be carried on for over nine months.  A new plant is under offer to the company at a reduced price.  Mr C. Wardle, late of the Borneo field, has sailed for Timor to assist in expediting the driller.  A cable from the field states— “Eight-inch casing flush with bottom of bit.  Having difficulty in drilling on angle too great.  Must ream off side of well.  Tools caught once, and after trouble got them out.” 





World’s News (Sydney) Wednesday May 24, 1933:


THE MYSTERY OF THE DEATH SHELL


By C.D. WARDLE


I FIRST ran across Sharkey Joe in a frontline trench in Flanders in 1916.  He marched in one foggy night with reinforcements for an Australian battalion to which I belonged.   He was known officially as Private X—but everyone called him “Sharkey Joe.”  He was good natured to a fault, handy with his fists and a born gambler.  As the war dragged on to an end, I lost sight of Joe.





In March, 1932, I stepped ashore from the steamer at Batavia (Dutch East Indies) prospecting for a billet.  Whilst eating a casual meal in a café, I heard a voice roaring for the “boy.”  It proved to be my old comrade “Sharkey Joe.”  I had hoped against hope to find a job in Java, and running across Joe again seemed a good omen.


Calling the Chinese “boy,” I asked him, “How long has this Tuan (master) been here?”


“Four days,” replied the boy.  “The K.P.M. steamer Siberg brought him as a passenger from Macassar.”


Later on X—stirred in his sleep and sat up.  For fully two minutes he gazed about dazedly, and I came to the conclusion that drink was not his only trouble.  Walking over to him, I grinned and extended my arm.  To my utter amazement, however, he leapt from his chair and, without a word, went for me tooth and nail!  It was like the attack of some wild beast, and the suddenness of the onslaught rolled me on my back.        


In an instant X—was on top of me, and I felt his hot hands on my throat.  That made my angry, and exerting my utmost strength, I caught at his wrists and wrenched them away.  Then, twisting my leg over his back, I threw him sideways and pinned him down helplessly.


“What the devil are you playing at, Joe?” I cried, as I sat stride him.  “I go to shake hands with you, and try to throttle me!”


He peered up at me…..”Tell me who you are.”


“Wardle’s my name.”  I answered.  “I’m from Singapore.  Don’t you remember me?  We were in the Twelfth Battalion in France.”


He remembered me and scrambling to his feet called out “Wardle, you must get me away from here!”


Jos was evidently in a bad way, but I got him upstairs to his room.  It was obvious the poor chap had something on his mind.


I gave him a hefty dose of bromide and sleeping-draught which soon sent him off into a restless doze.


“Sharkey Joe” incurred the wrath of a Chinese Secret Society ……How he was the victim of a gruesome revenge is told below.





At midnight there was a violent thunderstorm.  The racket woke X—who seemed hot and feverish.  He lay listening to the storm for some time, and presently said:


“Wardle, can up speak Malay?”  “Yes, Joe,” I replied and he then said, “Will you see if any of my boat’s crew are below?”


I found on inquiry that they were still about the café.  They had sailed in Joe’s schooner from Timor to Java—1100 miles—in pursuit of their beloved master.


“I am glad they are here,” said Joe, in relieved tones.  “Light all the candles and call the boys, and bring them all here.  Put someone to watch the door.”


Five minutes later I ushered in a motley collection of strange kanakas, leaving one man on watch at the door.


It was a weird scene, guttering candles, and natives squatting on the floor.


“Sharkey Joe” spoke.


“Wardle,” he began, “for 20 years I have been closely studying various theories connected with tropical poisons, I have collected complete sets of deadly poisons used by various savage tribes.  In 1912 I was hard at work experimenting with a certain shellfish at Thursday Island.  It had worried me a good deal.  It was killing off my pearl-divers, and I was after an antidote.


“At the time of my discoveries, various powerful Chinese secret societies, or tongs, were firmly established at Thursday Island.  One day a Chinaman visited me, and after a while got down to ‘brass tacks,’ stating that he was prepared to pay a big sum on behalf of his tong, for the result of my discovered about the deadly fish.  Firmly I told him I hadn’t sunk to trafficking on poisons.


“From that moment, Wadle, my life has been a burden to me.  All sorts of queer ‘accidents’ happened. Finally I woke up one day on Thursday Island hospital after lying unconscious for 17 days, with my mind an absolute blank.											


“When I recovered, I gave up pearling, and in 1915 I enlisted, afterwards meeting you in France. …..Well, in due course the war ended, and I returned to Australia.  The Chinks left me alone for a long time, but in 1922, when I was on my way home to my lodging in Brisbane, I was knifed on the forearm.  It was a Chinese who tackled me.												Cont’d








Continues:


“ “After that I bought a schooner called the ‘Janet,’ and went trading among the islands.  My crew were absolutely trustworthy and loyal.   One night at Timor, I turned in on the deck.  Do you know where I woke up?  Downstairs in this café grappling with you in a state of semi-madness.  I can guess the cause; those yeller devils are still on my trail….I’m a goner, old fellow.  Just see if Boa, my head ‘boy’ has a small box of mine.”


A six-foot fuzzy-haired kanaka stood up and handed me a small brass-bound trade box, with the keys tied to one of the handless.  Joe certainly appeared to be sinking fast.  With trembling fingers he extracted some papers and said, “In the bottom of this box there is a dangerous array of native poisons.  Probably you had better destroy them.  Here are the deeds to my small unencumbered plantation in Tonga.  This bag contains 1500 Stratis dollars.  The schooner is also mine.  Now get me pen and paper and I will make my will.”


Suddenly, as we all sat there quietly watching Joe folding up the document, there was a dull “plop” in the far corner of the room.


Instantly X—was convinced with terror.  “Good heavens!  What’s that?” he gasped.  Rushing across, I flashed my torch in the corner which the candles did not illuminate.


“It’s nothing, Joe,” I told him soothingly, “Only a wandering hermit-crab.”


“Show me,” screamed Joe, “Bring it here quick.”


I walked towards him carrying the pyramid-shaped shell.  Instantly the kanakas rose as one man, and a voluble chattering broke out.


From the bed there came a convulsive shudder, and Joe dropped back limply on the pillow… “Sharkey Joe” had passed on—and I knew not then the manner of his passing.  Subsequently two doctors arrived and certified that William X—had died from heart failure…..


When I turned down the clothes of the dead man/s bed I noticed a peculiar-shaped little shell-fish on the bottom sheet.  With the aid of a pencil and piece of paper I got it on the table, and when I came to examine it recognised it was one of the most-deadly species.


Its body was covered with curious little spikes, each capable of inflicting certain death upon anyone who came in contact with them.


Nobody knew how it had got there.  After fixing up the necessary formalities in Batavia, the schooner with the faithful kanakas on board set sail for Tonga.


The teak-wood box of assorted poisons, together with the mystery shell-fish, I sent to a scientific laboratory at Bandoeng; and was very glad to get rid of them…..


Since then I have puzzled the thing over from every angle, and still find myself unable to explain it.  But I should like to know how that poisonous shell-fish came to be in X—‘s bed, and what—if anything—it has to do with his death.  Its presence, at any rate, was no figment of a diseased brain.


					





Evening News (Rockhampton) Thursday August 10, 1933:


MOUNT MORGAN NEWS – OLD FRIENDS RECALLED – A LETTER FROM LONDON


MT MORGAN, Wednesday.


The following letter has been received from Mr Cecil D. Wardle, formerly of the Assay Department of the late Mount Morgan Gold Mining Company, but now at the address c/- Mail Room, Australia House, Strand, London, W.C.2. England:


Dear Sir—Through the columns of your valued newspaper would you broadcast a message in search of some mining friends, pals of mine long years ago?


Thirty years ago I was a resident of Mount Morgan, and in 1903, 1904, 1905, held the secretaryship at the initial forming of the Mount Morgan Bicycle and Touring Club, with a membership of 35 cycle fans at a time when bicycles were a rare sight at the Mount.


Among the principles of the Cycle Club were some intimate pals, the names of which I am submitting to you in the hope that you will publish my letter and through this means reestablish the broken link of friendship after all these years with my old comrades. 


engineer.	


	Further, it may be the means of including some of my pals in the ranks of my expedition personnel of the Central and North-western New Guinea expedition, and render pleasant days and memories of happy Queensland days.  I shall probably be calling on you personally early in 1934 on my route to New Guinea.  In the meantime I would be deeply indebted to you if, through your new column, I could once more communication with the following:									Cont’d
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Jack Crewe, who was in 1905 biking it at O.K. Mine, N.Q.


Christy Burke, of Mount Morgan, miner and smelter.


Tommy Ryan, of Tipperary Point, Mount Morgan.


George Riley, saddler, of Mount Morgan, O.K. and Stannary Hill, N.Q.


Joe Bukowski, tailor, Mount Morgan.


If these lads or anyone knowing of their present address would write to me, c.- Australia House, London.  I would also be pleased to have a copy of your paper.


										C.D. WARDLE


The Wardles, father and son, were employed by the M.M.G.M. Co. Wardle sen., was an assayer and mining





Sydney Morning Herald Saturday August 11, 1934:


SAILING BY THE MALAITA


The following are the passengers sailing to-day on the Burns Philp motor vessel Malaita for Rabaul, via ports:


Mr C.D. Wardle									


Article abridged





Age (Melbourne) September 6, 1934:


MINING MANAGER’S REPORTS


GOLDEN DEEPS, 3rd—Directors engaged Mr W.J. Carroll as general manager, and Mr C.D. Wardle, metallurgist, assayer and surveyor for mine.  Both left Sydney on 30th August.  Immediate work to be carried out will be extensive pitting and costeaning with view to proving further values and quantities. 





Papuan Courier (Port Moresby, Papua New Guinea) Friday March 1, 1935:


SHIPPING NEWS


FEBRUARY 28—Macdhui m.v., Capt. Campbell, for Sydney via Brisbane:


Passengers: Port Moresby to Sydney, Messrs C.D. Wardle				Article abridged





Sun (Sydney) Thursday November 28, 1935:


SEARCH JUNGLE – MINERS’ AIM – NO ‘PLANE SEEN


In reply to a cable sent by “The Sun” yesterday the management of the tin-mining company which was asked by Singapore authorities to search in the Takuapa district for “Smithy” says that the report of a ‘plane having been found south of Kapong is without foundation.


To Mr E.S. Miles, at the Satupulo Tin Dredging area, Takuapa, who reported seeing a ‘plane pass over on November 8, the following cable was sent yesterday.


“Deeply appreciate earliest being message your search Kingsford Smith.  Do you credit native report airmen in jungle, one injured?”


Contd.
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The following reply was received “Regret native report mentioned without foundation.  With assistance local government (Siamese) authorities, likely areas being searched.”


The reply cable added that full details of the investigations were being telegraphed regularly to Air Force authorities at Singapore.


“They could be in that jungle for six months and still be found alive.,” said to-day Mr C.D. Wardle, who is in Sydney after having spent a year actively engaged in tin-mining at Takuapa and places on the west coast.


“It has taken me three months each way to get mail in and out of the more inaccessible places, such as around Takuapa, so I am not surprised that no news has come of the airmen yet,” he said.





Lithgow Mercury Thursday December 12, 1935:


KANDOS – EXPENSIVE TAXI RIDE


Cecil Derwent Wardle (51) of Sydney, described as a mining engineer, had an expensive taxi ride, when he appeared before Messrs H.L. Taylor and C. Roberts at the Kandos police court on Saturday to answer a charge of fraudulently evading the payment of a prescribed fare amounting to £8/17/-.  Wardle engaged the taxi in Sydney and after visiting Blackheath, asked to be conveyed to Kandos and later on to Razorback, where he said he intended to purchase a gold mine.


Pleading guilty, he was fined £10, in default 20 day’s hard labor, and was ordered to pay compensation amounting to £8/17/-. in default a further 18 days’ hard labor in Bathurst goal.





Sydney Morning Herald Saturday September 5, 1936:


SAILING BY THE MARELLA


Following is a list of the passengers sailing for Singapore to-day by the Burns Philp steamer Marella.  The vessel is scheduled to leave No. 7 wharf, Walsh Bay at 11.15 a.m. 


Mr C.D. Wardle										Article abridged





World’s News (Sydney) Wednesday May 26, 1937:


THE KEEPER OF CROCODILES


By C.D. WARDLE


MY business in life is boring—punching down through the earth’s crust in search of things that have great commercial value.  Sometimes it is coal, at other times oil or minerals.  The experience I am about to relate centres around a Banka and Keystone drill-outfit.


This is used for location the glossy stuff known as black oxide of tin, which has a peculiar habit of secreting itself in all sorts of unexpected spots.  It is in found in river-beds as alluvial or stream-tin; in the mountains in situ, or closely attached to the parent lode or vein.  The scene of my story, however, happens to be laid out at sea, among the mangroves that fringe the coasts of Siamese and Malayan Peninsula.              


I had received orders from our head office in Penang to search for tin in the shallow waters around St Matthew’s Island, off the coast of Lower Burma.  Boring on land is usually a simple business, but out at sea it presents certain difficulties.  I had had no actual experience of such work and was therefore compelled to work out an entirely new plan of attack.


The puzzle soon solved itself, however, and I set my Chinese carpenters to work building a pontoon.  This had a twelve-inch square opening in the centre, to allow the three-and a half-inch drilling-cases to be let down or taken up as required, and had to be big enough to carry our crew of eight boring coolies, one serang (headman), a sample-washer, my personal krani (overseer), over a ton of boring gear, and myself.  This entailed a craft about twenty feet long by fifteen wide.								 Cont’d





Continues:


Whilst the pontoon was being built, the overseer and I, each in a twelve-foot dinghy, surveyed the exact spots where we decided to sink bore-holes.  When the pontoon had been completed, launched, and found satisfactory, we began our campaign, and for a month all went well, the only flies in our ointment, literally speaking being the hordes of voracious mosquitoes that constantly hovered around us.


Week after week we bit down into the sea-bottom, carefully sampled our drillings, and then moved on to the next flag-buoy.  When the fifth week arrived, I began to congratulate myself that this little jaunt would soon be successfully accomplished.  Then an odd incident occurred.


At that time I had not been out in Malaya long; I had a lot to learn about sinister undercurrents of life in the Orient.  Otherwise, I expect I should not have dismissed the matter from my mind so quickly as I did.


We had been working toward our last two lines of red-flagged buoys when, one morning, I noticed a queer-looking sampan (native boat) drifting just head of us, between our pontoon and the mangrove-covered swamp fringing a low-lying islet.  Busy with the day’s work, I just glanced at the craft and then forgot it.


Next morning, however, the odd craft was there again, this time anchored very much nearer to us.  Something about it interested me, and I scanned the sampan and it solitary occupant through my binoculars.  The man in the boar appeared to be a wizened old native of Malayan type.  He sat facing us, hour after hour, absolutely immobile.  Not a muscle of his face moved, but occasionally I could see his beady eyes blink.


The sight of this motionless watcher made me curiously uneasy.  Why was he so interested in our operations, and why didn’t he come nearer and talk to us?  I summoned Essu, my overseer, who was also a Malay, and asked him what he thought about the sampan and its occupant.  He shood his head, frankly admitting that he could not make out what the native was doing there.


Ordering the dinghy, I stepped aboard, and accompanied Essu, pulled over to the lone sentinel.  In a few minutes we arrive close alongside and being at that time unable to speak Malay, I turned to Essu to ask him to interpret for me.  	


One glance at the overseer, however caused the words to die on my lips.  His teeth were chattering like castanets, and his body trembled as though struck by a sudden ague, while his face looked ghastly, wearing an expression of absolute terror.	


This sort of thing wouldn’t do, so, mastering my astonishment, I swore at him roundly in voluble English.  At my first words Essu seemed to pull himself together, and I curtly bade him ask the stranger his business.  He did so with obvious reluctance; the old fellow in the sampan appeared to have cast some sort of spell over him.


The old Malay’s reply, as translated by Essu, was brief and decidedly to the point.          


We were, it appeared, trespassing in sacred waters.  This region belonged to the gods, and their orders had been transmitted to their earthly servitor (himself).  These orders must be obeyed immediately, otherwise the gods would order the guardians of the neighboring island to punish us for our intrusion.  He, the “Keeper of the Crocodiles,” had been instructed to warn us.  If we disregarded the injunction, then he would have not option but to enforce the decree of the gods.


Word for word Essu—still in a state of abject fear—interpreted this cryptic message.  When he had finished, I turned round to speak to the queer old man—only to discover that the sampan had moved away and was already among the first line of mangroves fringing the swamp.  A few seconds later, as thought to emphasise the Malay’s warning, we heard the roar of a bull crocodile echoing across the water.  It was the first time since our arrival in the area that his uncanny sound had reached our ears.


Somehow or other, I felt strangely troubled.  I was young and cared little for danger.  My orders were to get on with the work, and I was sufficiently zealous to want to push ahead.  If I carried out this job successfully it would mean a good deal to me; nevertheless I couldn’t help worrying over an old native’s words.  His warning was all nonsense, of course; and I’d see him hanged before I quitted with my task unfinished, but all the same I wished he hadn’t cautioned us.								


As the days passed, however, and nothing toward happened, I began to forget the incident.  Nevertheless, when I went ashore, I made a few discreet inquiries concerning the islet that lay ahead of us.  I learnt that, many years previously, it had been used a s Malay burial-ground, but later a slight subsidence had caused the sea to cover a considerable area of the foreshore.


I remembered that our charts showed only about six feet of water over the whole shallow sea-flat, and if occurred to me that we might very well be boring on what was formerly part of the island.  It suddenly occurred to me, moreover, that the company I represented had no actual legal authority to prospect in that area.  I therefore determined to get on with the few remaining bores as quickly as possible and then clear out.


By this time, to tell the truth, my nerves were rather on edge.  The evil-looking old Malay’s strange words still lingered in my mind.  I couldn’t rid myself of the idea that some sinister danger menaces us—a most uncomfortable feeling.


Ultimately, we worked round to our last line of bores; we were on the “home stretch,” so to speak.  Our pontoon was now tied up to the outlying mangrove-trees of the island, instead of being anchored.  			Cont’d
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Boring was proceeding satisfactorily one day when I again heard the rumbling road of a bull crocodile, apparently quite near at hand.  It was an eerie sound, and sent cold shivers chasing up and down my spine.


I glanced across at Essu, who had been busy entering up results in the field book.  As the roar died away, he sprang to his feet and again that look of terror showed on his dusky, intelligent face.


But the stolid Chinese coolies (Hylams), interest only in the job at hand—incidentally they make the finest boring coolies in the world—went quietly on with their work.  The crocodile didn’t worry them.


All seemed well; nevertheless I felt vaguely troubled as I walked to the tool-box amidships to get a drink from the Thermos flask.  Then, without warning I felt the pontoon rear violently up on end, and various bulky bits of gear went clattering down the deck. 


Amid the confusion I heard two things that I shall never forget—the scream of human beings in deadly fear and a horrible hoarse laugh that rang out from some nearby spot in the mangroves.


A moment later I hit the water with a terrific splash, but my clutching fingers speedily grabbed the side, and with a desperate heave I dragged myself back again on the broad deck, which was now floating level once more.


It speedily appeared that several of the crew had also toppled overboard, and wild shouts broke out as they were assisted to scramble on to the pontoon again.  Quickly I looked them over.  Was everyone safe?  No; two coolies—


Ah Kong and Lew Kin—were missing.  Even as I grasped this fact, there came a ghastly swirl close alongside and we saw red-tinted whorls of water spreading into ever-widening circles.


The support I had instinctively grabbed at gave way, and I went sprawling across the planking.  As I did so, a queer musky smell struck my nostrils, and looking around, I saw two enormous crocodiles, their great jaws agape, biting at the pontoon edge.


The tragedy, needless to say, shook me up pretty badly, and Essu and the remaining coolies were obviously very badly frightened.  In these circumstances I decided to quit.  Once safely on shore, I sent a telegram to the head office in Penang, acquainting them with the facts and asking for instructions.  The reply ordered me to immediately abandon all work on that section.  The crew went back to Ipoh, and in due course suitable compensation was paid to the next-of-kin of the missing men.	


Essu and I returned to Penang, both of us very subdued.  Later, sitting on the verandah of my bungalow at Batu Ferringhi, I tried to solve to my own satisfaction the problem presented by the wizened old Malay, his strange threats and the death of the two Chinese.  He probably spoke nothing but the truth when he told us that he was the guardian of that ancient burial-ground, and for all I know we may actually have been boring among submerged graves.


The point as to whether the self-styled “Keeper of the Crocodiles,” had anything to do with the extraordinary attack made upon us by the crocodiles, however, I must leave to my readers’ judgment.





 								








West Australian (Perth) Tuesday June 7, 1938:


PASSENGERS BY CENTAUR


Bound for Java, Singapore and Malaya, the Blue Funnel motorship Centaur is timed to sail from B. shed, Victoria Quay, at 11 a.m. today.  The following passengers have booked to travel by the vessel: Messrs: C.D. Wardle  


 											Article abridged





Pte Cecil D. Wardle


Photo sourced from Aust. Archives WWII documents – Wardle








His service is commemorated on the Queenstown State School WWI Roll of Honour.





Roll of Honour Board – Queenstown State School, 


in the Gallery – Museum, Queenstown, Tasmania


Photo sourced from Virtual War Memorial Australia Website





Rose Garden B2 at Eastern Suburbs Memorial Park, 


Sydney, NSW


Photo sourced from Find-a-Grave website








